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● (1555)

[English]
The Chair (Mr. John Brassard (Barrie—Innisfil, CPC)): I

call this meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 68 of the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Access to Information, Privacy and Ethics.

Today’s meeting is taking place in a hybrid format, pursuant to
the House order of June 23, 2022, and members can therefore at‐
tend in person in the room and remotely using the Zoom applica‐
tion. Should any technical challenges arise, please advise me. I
don't expect that we're going to have any, but please note that we
may need to suspend for a few minutes as we need to ensure that all
members are able to participate fully.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(3)(h) and the motion adopted by
the committee on Wednesday, December 7, 2022, the committee is
resuming its study of foreign interference and threats to the integri‐
ty of democratic institutions, intellectual property and the Canadian
state.

We have one witness today, and I would like to welcome him. As
an individual, we have Mr. Morris Rosenberg. He is the author of
“Report on the assessment of the 2021 Critical Election Incident
Public Protocol” and the former president and CEO of the Pierre
Elliott Trudeau Foundation.

Just before Mr. Rosenberg begins, I am going to advise the com‐
mittee that we received up to 120 pages from our witness on Friday.
Many of them have to be translated. We've also received informa‐
tion that will have to be transcribed. My understanding from the
clerk is that it may take a few days for that to happen.

It's actually closer to 200 pages, is it not, Madam Clerk?
The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Nancy Vohl): It is.
The Chair: We'll have to wait a few days for those to be trans‐

lated and for one piece of information we've received to be tran‐
scribed.

For the purposes of the committee, we are going to be here for a
full two hours. Mr. Rosenberg has asked that he have six minutes to
issue his statement to the committee. I'm going to grant that.

Mr. Rosenberg, you can start now for six minutes, please. Go
ahead.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg (Author of the Report on the assess‐
ment of the 2021 Critical Election Incident Public Protocol and

former President and CEO of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foun‐
dation, As an Individual): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Prior to becoming president of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Founda‐
tion in September 2014, I was a public servant working under both
Conservative and Liberal governments. I was a deputy minister of
three departments—justice, health and foreign affairs—for over 15
years, and I was appointed to the foreign affairs position by Prime
Minister Harper.

I want to disclose that I have been a member of the Conseil de
l'Université de Montréal since August 18, 2016. I was not a mem‐
ber of the conseil at the time of the donation in question. I've not
participated in any discussions of the conseil or its committees on
what to do with the donation received by the university.

I first want to address some of the points raised by Madame
Fournier at this committee last Friday.

First, the donation at issue occurred while I was president of the
foundation, yet not once over the past weeks did foundation man‐
agement reach out to me to answer any questions about the dona‐
tion. Finally, on Friday afternoon, the foundation sent me a package
of materials, including 160 pages released under access to informa‐
tion, as well as a copy of a policy on donations enforced in 2016.
I'd be happy to share that with you.

I believe the donation should be assessed from the perspective of
Canada's relations with China in 2016 when it was made, not from
the much more negative context that exists today. At that time, uni‐
versities, corporations and governments were all attempting to
strengthen ties with China, including Mr. Harper's government,
which signed a foreign investment promotion and protection agree‐
ment in 2014. From that perspective, this was seen as a normal and
desirable donation consistent with the foundation's priorities.

The tax receipt was made out to Millennium Golden Eagle Inter‐
national (Canada) Inc. because that is the entity that made the dona‐
tion. A corporate search shows that this is a Canadian corporation
headquartered in Dorval, Quebec. Therefore, this is not a foreign
donation.

All interactions with the Canada Revenue Agency were handled
with care because the consequences for the foundation of not doing
so could result in a loss of its charitable status. It made no sense not
to be scrupulous.
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In addition to being chair of Millennium Golden Eagle Interna‐
tional, it's well known that Mr. Zhang was president of the China
Cultural Industry Association. This is mentioned in articles in the
Université de Montréal publications about the donations. He also
represented himself that way at the time of an earlier donation to
the University of Toronto.

There was nothing nefarious about staff in his organization con‐
tacting the foundation for administrative purposes, like providing a
mailing address to send a tax receipt. Moreover, if CSIS had any
concerns about the donors, at no time did anyone from the service
speak to me about this, or, I don't think, anybody else in the founda‐
tion either.

Madame Fournier said that the donor list in the annual reports of
the foundation identified the two individuals as donors rather than
the company to which the tax receipts were issued. I don't recollect
the reason, but it makes sense that the foundation wanted to ac‐
knowledge and honour the two men whose names were associated
with the conferences.

Madame Fournier questioned whether Alexandre Trudeau could
legitimately sign a donor agreement on behalf of the foundation. As
per the policy, I approved the donation—or it wouldn't have gone
forward—but the policy doesn't actually require that I put my own
signature on a donation agreement. It was felt that, given the dona‐
tion was to honour Pierre Trudeau, who opened up diplomatic rela‐
tions with China, it would be more appropriate for his son to repre‐
sent the foundation at the ceremony and sign the agreement. This
was consistent with the policy on donations in 2016.

Second, I'd like to point out that Mr. Zhang's intent from the start
appears to have been to donate $1 million to the Université de
Montréal law school. This is confirmed in interviews in Le Devoir
with both Mr. Guy Lefebvre, the former vice-rector of international
affairs at the university, and Guy Saint-Jacques, the former Canadi‐
an ambassador to China. I can provide you with copies of those ar‐
ticles.

Mr. Lefebvre, who was aware of the 2013 donation to the Uni‐
versity of Toronto medical school by these same donors, wanted to
meet Mr. Zhang. It was Ambassador Saint-Jacques, our ambassador
in China, who introduced Mr. Lefebvre to Mr. Zhang in 2014. As
Mr. Saint-Jacques told Le Devoir, it was a much better era; we
didn't really distrust China.

In early September 2014, Monsieur Lefebvre invited the founda‐
tion to meet the donors, who were in Montreal for a few days. At a
meeting on September 24, Mr. Zhang stated that the $1-million do‐
nation would establish scholarships for students at the Université de
Montréal law school and perhaps eventually at other law schools in
Canada.

● (1600)

It was agreed that the foundation, the university and Mr. Zhang
would form a committee to flesh out the donation. However, on
November 17, 2014, the university published an article announcing
that it had already received a $1-million gift for the law school
from these same donors, and there was no mention of the Trudeau
Foundation. It was only in September 2015, after several discus‐

sions, that the donors decided to earmark $200,000 of the origi‐
nal $1 million for the foundation to hold conferences.

Third, at no time did the donors ask the foundation to connect
them with government or political officials. Professor Wesley Wark
of the Centre for International Governance Innovation, who has
written extensively on foreign interference, said the following in his
online newsletter of March 21, 2023:

How exactly such a donation could be considered an influence operation in
terms of how the funding was utilised was also not addressed in the reporting.

Knowing something of the operations of the Trudeau Foundation in supporting
scholarly work I have to scratch my head at the idea that this was a calculated
interference operation.

Moreover, the foundation is independent from the Government
of Canada and simply did not coordinate decisions with the govern‐
ment.

The Trudeau Foundation has supported some brilliant scholars
over the past two decades. Without its help, they wouldn't be where
they are today.

This is an important moment for the foundation. I strongly be‐
lieve that an independent investigation is needed to separate fact
from innuendo.

I just have one last tiny point. I want to clarify something—cor‐
rect the public record on one thing. In an interview early in March
with the Canadian Press, I was asked if I had met the donors. I said
that I thought I had met them once at the signing ceremony. Having
now had access to these 160 pages of documents, I note that I was
at a meeting with them on September 24, 2014. I just wanted to put
that on the record.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Rosenberg.

Also, for the benefit of the committee tonight, we're being web‐
cast, not televised—just so that everybody is aware of that. The cir‐
cumstance is beyond our control.

We're going to start the first round of questioning with Mr. Bar‐
rett for six minutes.

Go ahead, sir.

Mr. Michael Barrett (Leeds—Grenville—Thousand Islands
and Rideau Lakes, CPC): How often did Mr. Trudeau sign dona‐
tion agreements?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Not often at all, as far as I recall.

Frankly, a lot of the donations didn't require donation agree‐
ments. This was a ceremony that took place at the Université de
Montréal. You had a document that was signed by officials of the
Université de Montréal and by Mr. Trudeau. It was quite a formal
affair rather than what we would normally do with donations,
where we would receive a donation and send back a receipt.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Did the donors request that a Trudeau or
Mr. Alexandre Trudeau be involved in the ceremony?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I know that he's appearing here tomor‐
row. It's a question you might well put to him.
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I don't recall whether they requested it or whether he thought it
was a good initiative on his part. As I said, given the circumstances,
the nature of the gift and the spirit in which it was given, as well as
his father's involvement in opening up diplomatic relations with
China, it was felt that it was appropriate that he be there.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Right, and while it may have been consid‐
ered appropriate, it also could be problematic, not based on who his
father was but based on who is brother is and the circumstances
surrounding the donors.

I'd like to ask you a question about that. You said that it wasn't
unusual to have staff from the company these individuals claimed
they were representing provide a mailing address. What country
was on the mailing address that it was sent to?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It was China. This is all in these docu‐
ments.

My understanding is that Mr. Zhang—and there's no secret
about—

Mr. Michael Barrett: Isn't that unusual, sir, though? Do you re‐
ceive donations from many Canadian companies that ask you to
send the paperwork back to China?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, I don't receive—
Mr. Michael Barrett: Is this the only time that's happened?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As far as I know, it is, but if I can, I'll

explain.

If you look up Mr. Zhang online, you'll find that he wears a num‐
ber of hats, including chair of the Millennium Golden Eagle corpo‐
ration and president of the China Cultural Industry Association. In
fact, the address to which the donation was sent in China—you will
see when you see the materials—is the address of Mr. Zhang as a
director of Millennium Golden Eagle International (Canada) Inc.,
which is noted in the corporate records kept by the corporation's
branch in Ottawa.
● (1605)

Mr. Michael Barrett: Will you table the documents that you're
referencing?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Absolutely.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Okay.

Are you able to do that today? Do you have them in hand?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I have them in hand, but I was told that

the rules of the committee don't permit me to table paper.
Mr. Matthew Green (Hamilton Centre, NDP): I have a point

of order, quickly.
The Chair: We'll stop your time, Mr. Barrett.

Go ahead, Mr. Green, with your point of order.
Mr. Matthew Green: Mr. Chair, is there an ability for us to

waive the rules to allow those documents be tabled in paper, with a
follow-up, perhaps electronically, if they're made available?

The Chair: My understanding is that we may need a motion to
do that, but I will clarify that with our clerk. If a motion is pro‐
posed, we can seek unanimous consent.

Mr. Matthew Green: I'll move a unanimous consent motion.

The Chair: Just let me check with the clerk first.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I can clarify it a bit further if you like.
Mr. Michael Barrett: We'll just wait until he starts back up.
The Chair: Thank you for allowing me the time to clarify.

You can't do that on a point of order. You have to do that when
you have the floor. However, you can also propose, Mr. Green, that
notwithstanding the usual practice of the committee, you can ask
for these documents to be submitted, and I'd hope we would have
unanimous consent for that.

Mr. Matthew Green: Mr. Chair, I'll acknowledge that Mr. Bar‐
rett has the floor and has the prerogative to do that at this time.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Barrett, you can continue—
Ms. Iqra Khalid (Mississauga—Erin Mills, Lib.): I'm sorry,

Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Go ahead.
Ms. Iqra Khalid: Which documents are we specifically refer‐

ring to?
The Chair: Mr. Rosenberg has referred to 160 pages of docu‐

ments.

What was that, Mr. Rosenberg?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't have the whole 160 pages here. I

have a corporate search on Millennium Golden Eagle International.
Ms. Iqra Khalid: Respectfully, then, Mr. Chair—
The Chair: The motion hasn't been moved, so no debate is go‐

ing on right now. I thought you were just seeking a point of clarifi‐
cation, which I accepted.

Mr. Barrett, if you want to continue, you have three minutes. Go
ahead, sir.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Thanks, Chair.

Are you able to say at what point the Prime Minister or his broth‐
er were raised in the negotiations that occurred over the two-year
period between the donors and the foundation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think very early on, not the Prime
Minister but Mr. Alexandre Trudeau would have been involved.

I started my job at the foundation in September 2014. I know that
Mr. Trudeau was having some discussions with Mr. Lefebvre from
the Université de Montréal before that. You'd have to ask him when
those began. I believe they began quite early in 2014.

Mr. Michael Barrett: When did you first learn about the dona‐
tion?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Which one? The donation to the Uni‐
versité de Montréal?

Mr. Michael Barrett: I mean the donation destined for the
Trudeau Foundation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It was September 2015.
Mr. Michael Barrett: How did you learn about that?
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Mr. Morris Rosenberg: You'll have to understand that we're
talking about something that happened eight years ago, so my
memory of this is poor, but there is documentation here that I will
provide to the committee—this 160 pages—that suggests there was
no intent on the part of the donor to donate to the Trudeau Founda‐
tion initially.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Who asked them for the money?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It was the Université de Montréal.
Mr. Michael Barrett: The Université de Montréal asked them to

give $200,000 to the Trudeau Foundation.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, I didn't say that.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Who asked for the donation to go to the

Trudeau Foundation?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: This came out of discussions that my

staff had with the Université de Montréal and with the donor over
the course of several months that were the result of the meeting I
mentioned on September 24, 2014. There was a committee set up,
and as a result of that, by September 2015, the donors had agreed
that some of the money should go to the foundation.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I have very limited time.

It took two years, based on public reporting, to negotiate this do‐
nation, but within a five-month period of the finalization and the
money being flowed to the foundation, both of the gentlemen
named as donors had direct access to meet with the Prime Minister
as well as the Prime Minister's brother and senior people at the
foundation.

Do you understand why that set of circumstances is concerning
for Canadians? These individuals have been identified in public re‐
porting based on CSIS documents as cut-outs acting on behalf of
the Communist dictatorship in Beijing.
● (1610)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: All I can say on that is—
Mr. Michael Barrett: Do you understand why that's concerning

for Canadians?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I read the newspapers, and I can under‐

stand why people would draw inferences from that, but the negotia‐
tions that took place that culminated in this agreement ended before
the election in 2015. In fact, these documents will point out that
somewhere around September 11, 2015, there were plans to have
the announcement ceremony in Montreal because the donors were
in Montreal.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Are you talking about the donors to the
foundation or the university?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: In September—
The Chair: I'm sorry. I'll have to end it there. You'll have to pick

it up later.

Mr. Rosenberg, I'm not sure whether you understand French.
[Translation]

You can listen to the interpretation if you need to.

Ms. Martinez Ferrada, the floor is yours for six minutes.

Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada (Hochelaga, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Thank you for being here with us, Mr. Rosenberg.

I am going to ask you several questions at once, because I want
to make sure that all the information you give us appears in the
transcript.

On Friday, Pascale Fournier said that the Pierre Elliott Trudeau
Foundation was not a partisan organization. Do you think that un‐
der you, the foundation was a partisan organization, one way or an‐
other?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, Mr. Chair, not at all.

As a public servant, I always acted in an independent and non‐
partisan manner. In fact, when I accepted the position at the Pierre
Elliott Trudeau Foundation, I knew that it was an independent, non‐
partisan organization.

Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Can you say that while you
were there, you never had partisan relationships with the govern‐
ment or a political party, either before or after the current govern‐
ment came to power?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That is correct.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Perfect.

Can you also say, as Ms. Fournier did on Friday, that the staff
were not selected on the basis of their political background?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Absolutely not. As well, I have never
been a member of any political party.

Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: I imagine you have never made
political donations.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I have not made any.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Ms. Fournier said that no one in

the organization engaged in lobbying or participated in organizing
party political events.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That is correct.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Okay.

Ms. Fournier also said that the Prime Minister had not been invit‐
ed and had not received any materials related to your membership
meetings or to your board of directors or governance committees.

Was that the same situation during your term?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Certainly.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: So you have never provided in‐

formation from the foundation to the government?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Never.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Okay.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: In fact, there have been exceptions.

I had an obligation to report to Innovation, Science and Econom‐
ic Development Canada.

Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Okay.
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Since you received public funding, you had to report to it on
your activities, but you did so in connection with your contractual
obligations with the government in relation to the donation.

You did it in any case because you were receiving public funding
and you had to provide a report on your activities, but that was in
connection with your contractual obligations to the government re‐
garding the donation. Is that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, that is correct.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Information was never commu‐

nicated proactively.

For example, regarding the discussions with the association, in
connection with the committee that was created between the uni‐
versities and the foundation, you did not give information to the
government.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Absolutely not.

There is no coordination with the government regarding dona‐
tions.

Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: So the donation was managed
solely by that committee, with no interference from the govern‐
ment.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Okay.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As I said, most of the negotiations took

place before the 2015 election. The agreement had not been signed
at that point, because a small part, which did not come from us,
dealt with the Université de Montréal, and it was not ready. The
donors, who rarely visited Montreal, had already left and we had to
wait for another time.
● (1615)

Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Okay.

Ms. Fournier also said that the foundation had never been pres‐
sured to organize conferences between Canada and China. Since
the donation was connected with an agreement for organizing con‐
ferences, in particular concerning relations between the two coun‐
tries, were you pressured to organize such conferences?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I was never pressured by anyone.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: So the association did not fol‐

low up to do anything regarding the donations given. It did not
make calls or send emails to ask why that had not been done.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. No request was made by the donors
to do anything. Under the agreement, the conferences had to relate
to global issues concerning Canada and China. It was very broad,
and it was up to us, in collaboration with the faculty of law at the
Université de Montréal, to decide the nature of the conferences.

Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Were you pressured, at some
point, or did you feel that there was pressure, to select universities
or scholars who come from the Chinese community, for example,
or who have a particular interest in China?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Never.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Okay.

Can you also confirm for the members of the committee that this
donation was made entirely transparently, in compliance with the
internal policies of the foundation, and with no interference by Chi‐
na?

The committee members and Canadians who are watching us
want to be sure that the foundation is not subject to interference by
China.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I can assure you of that.
Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Can you confirm for us that

there has been no interference by the government and by the Prime
Minister in connection with the donation that was made?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I am not aware of any communication
with the Prime Minister, his office, or other bodies within the gov‐
ernment regarding this matter.

Ms. Soraya Martinez Ferrada: Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Martinez Ferrada and Mr. Rosen‐

berg.

Mr. Villemure, the floor is yours for six minutes.
Mr. René Villemure (Trois-Rivières, BQ): Thank you,

Mr. Chair.

I would like to start by tabling a motion that has been provided to
the clerk, and that I am going to read for you. Moved:

That, in the context of the Trudeau Foundation component of the study on for‐
eign interference and threats to the integrity of democratic institutions, intellec‐
tual property and the Canadian state, the committee may reinvite the witnesses
already heard or other witnesses that the committee deems relevant, following
the information that will be revealed by the documents transmitted by Ms. Pas‐
cale Fournier, former president and CEO of the Foundation.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Villemure. Since you have the floor,
the motion is in order.

Madam Clerk tells me that she has distributed it and that all
members have received it, so we can begin the discussion.

Mr. Fergus, the floor is yours.
Hon. Greg Fergus (Hull—Aylmer, Lib.): Thank you,

Mr. Chair.

I would like to know whether the motion can be amended to add
the documents that will be provided by Mr. Rosenberg.

The Chair: We have an amendment from Mr. Fergus. Does the
committee agree?

[English]

Ms. Khalid, do you have something to say?
Ms. Iqra Khalid: I do. I just want to check with you to see if

this motion is tight enough. I just want to make sure that it's not
vague, which makes it difficult for you to do your job, Chair.

The Chair: I appreciate that. We've been running into some cir‐
cumstances where it's open to interpretation.

In my view, Mr. Villemure's motion is appropriate and tight
enough and gives direction not just to me as the chair, but also to
the clerk. I appreciate you asking that.
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We have an amendment from Mr. Fergus. Do we have unani‐
mous consent to accept that amendment?

(Amendment agreed to [See Minutes of Proceedings])

The Chair: Do we have unanimous consent for Mr. Villemure's
motion as amended?

(Motion as amended agreed to [See Minutes of Proceedings])

The Chair: Madam Clerk, are you clear on that? Okay.
● (1620)

[Translation]

Mr. Villemure, I have stopped the clock. You have 5 minutes and
54 seconds. You may begin.

Mr. René Villemure: Thank you, Mr. Chair. That's great.

Thank you for being here with us today, Mr. Rosenberg.

How did this donation come to the foundation? You are manag‐
ing the foundation, and all of a sudden, there is a Chinese donation.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I am going to try to explain it. As I
said, it happened eight years ago now, so the documents I have re‐
ceived have jogged my memory. If I do that, I might take up all
your speaking time.

Mr. René Villemure: Try to be brief.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Okay.

First, in the package of documents, there is a memo that was sent
to me by Guy Lefebvre, at the Université de Montréal, shortly after
I took office. He said he had spoken with Alexandre Trudeau, be‐
fore I took office, about the possibility of a Chinese donor, and that
they thought it would be a good idea to wait until I was there. He
asked me whether I was available to attend a meeting in Montreal
on September 23 and 25, because—

Mr. René Villemure: So the Université de Montréal approached
you.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes.
Mr. René Villemure: Okay.

We will read the documents when we get to them.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Okay.
Mr. René Villemure: Thank you.

Under your leadership, what were the connections between the
foundation and China?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Apart from a committee being created,
there wasn't much.

I have here the minutes of a meeting on September 24, at which I
was present with Mr. Lefebvre, the two Chinese donors, and the
representatives of the university and the foundation. They created a
committee of three people—you can see their names—who met
several times. I don't know how many times they did it.

That was where the connection between us, China and the Uni‐
versité de Montréal was. On that point, it is very important that I
tell you what Mr. Lefebvre said.

[English]

He says here that the university wishes to develop a long-term
relationship with the foundation. Mr. Zhang's position was that
the $1-million donation would establish scholarships for students at
the faculty of law at the Université de Montréal and eventually at
other universities in Canada.
[Translation]

Mr. René Villemure: Were you receiving donations from other
countries?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No.

However, I should say something about the article published in
the National Post in 2016, which said that there had been a huge in‐
crease in foreign donations to the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Founda‐
tion. At that time, I said that a majority of that money was coming
from a foundation registered in Switzerland in the name of John
McCall MacBain and his wife, who are Canadian. Mr. Mc‐
Call MacBain is now the chancellor of McGill University.

I think there were a few other small donations—I'm not certain,
but we didn't count the Chinese donation because the donor was a
Canadian company.

Mr. René Villemure: The donations by Mr. McCall MacBain
were actually relatively large.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, they were very large.
● (1625)

Mr. René Villemure: It was almost $1 million.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes. I don't recall exactly, but it was

much larger, more than the other donations.
Mr. René Villemure: Yes, it was $946,000.

What were the reasons why you were dismissed from the founda‐
tion?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I had accepted the position for a four-
year term after a very long career in the federal government. After
three years, I told Mr. McCall MacBain, in April 2017, that I didn't
want to renew my contract. I gave him enough time to launch a pro‐
cess to find a successor for me.

So there was not an ounce of truth in the allusion made on Friday
to my having been dismissed. I had a good relationship with
Mr. McCall MacBain and the members of the board of directors; I
had good performance evaluations and when I left the foundation I
maintained a very good relationship with it.

Mr. René Villemure: So you would say that the remarks made
by Ms. Fournier about a departure that was stormy and forced and
about managing a crisis that followed the departure of yourself and
several members of the board of directors at the same time are
false.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I can explain that.

Some elements are true, but it was not caused by a crisis. Some
members of the board of directors had been there for a long time
and wanted to do something else. Some of them told me they would
be leaving at the same time as me.
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There were problems with a few employees. We were sent some‐
one to help us with that. In one case, we lost our communications
director. Because I knew I would be leaving, I decided not to hire a
new communications director and to leave it up to my successor to
build their own team.

Mr. René Villemure: So there was no crisis management after
you left.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Certainly there were problems, but I
wouldn't characterize the situation as being a crisis. They were the
kinds of problems that arise in managing any organization.

In addition, we always adhered to the mandate and objectives of
the foundation regarding scholarships, fellows, mentors, confer‐
ences, and so on.

Mr. René Villemure: Okay. I gather that you do not agree with
Ms. Fournier on this subject.

Mr. René Villemure: Thank you.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Definitely not.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Villemure.

[English]

Mr. Green, you are up next for six minutes. Go ahead, sir.
Mr. Matthew Green: Thank you.

Mr. Rosenberg, I'm going to put a series of questions to you in a
rather rapid way. It's not personal. I may interject, take my time
back and move on to the next question. I'm going to ask you to try
to be as concise as you can.

In 2016, in a National Post article, you stated that the $200,000
donation was not considered a foreign donation because it was
made by a company registered in Canada. However, you issued a
tax receipt for a company with a Chinese address. Were they the
same company?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The tax receipt was issued to the com‐
pany. The Chinese address, as far as I understand, was the address
of Mr. Zhang Bin, who was, I believe, president of the company, or
certainly a director of the company, as the document shows.

Mr. Matthew Green: Was it a personal address or a corporate
address?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't know. I'm not sure which ad‐
dress it is, but I will say this: There are letters in here from—

Mr. Matthew Green: I will take the letters under consideration
when they're submitted.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Okay. They're actually emails. Sorry.
Mr. Matthew Green: I'll take the emails as well.

Do you believe that the donor on the tax receipt was the true
donor of the $200,000?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As far as I know, yes.
Mr. Matthew Green: In our last committee meeting, an article

from La Presse was referenced that stated that in 2016 a board
member made a senior staff member aware that the real donor was
not the same donor as on the tax receipt. In her testimony, Pascale
Fournier stated that the board member in question was Farah Mo‐
hamed.

In 2016, you were made aware that the real donor was not listed
on the tax receipt.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'm sorry. I was listening on Friday, and
I thought that conversation took place not in 2016 but in the past
few weeks. I'm not sure.

Mr. Matthew Green: Were you aware at that time? Were you
made aware by Farah Mohamed on the board that it wasn't the
same person?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. As far as I'm concerned, the dona‐
tion was made by the company that's here, registered in Dorval. I
had no reason to think it was anybody else.

Mr. Matthew Green: You sent it to China.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's where Mr. Zhang's address was.
Mr. Matthew Green: Did you conduct any type of audit—with

any type of eyes-wide-open approach—or a risk assessment with
regard to sending a tax receipt to a foreign company or to a foreign
location?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, because the only company that
could use the tax receipt would be the Canadian company to which
it was issued.

Mr. Matthew Green: In her testimony to the committee, Pascale
Fournier stated that the 2016 receipt that was issued by the founda‐
tion and signed off on by you did not include the names of the two
donors who were mentioned in the contract and included the ad‐
dress in China.

Did the foundation have any policies on those types of discrepan‐
cies?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't believe it had any policies on
that particularly. I think the policy was that the tax receipt should
be issued to the entity—either an individual or a corporation—that
makes the donation, and that's what we did.

Mr. Matthew Green: Did what you signed off on include the
name of the two donors?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't remember.

As far as I can tell, we signed off on.... There's one tax receipt in
the package to the Millennium corporation, the one in Dorval. The
names of the donors aren't on there. There was an issue around
what the correct address was.

Mr. Matthew Green: Were the donors board members of Mil‐
lennium Golden Eagle?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Mr. Zhang was a board member of Mil‐
lennium.

Mr. Matthew Green: Was the other?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No.
Mr. Matthew Green: So you issued a tax receipt to a corpora‐

tion that did not include one of the donors.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, because the corporation was the

donor.
Mr. Matthew Green: It was not the two people who made the

donation.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The money came from the corporation.
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Mr. Matthew Green: In an annual report in 2016-17, in the in‐
formation that was shared with the CRA, the name of the company,
Millennium Golden Eagle, was not included, but the names of the
donors were. Can you explain the discrepancy between that and
what you just said?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes. I thought I did in my opening re‐
marks by saying that I think it made sense for the foundation, hav‐
ing met its obligations to the CRA, to put down the names of the
two individuals who were the face of the donation and in whose
name these conferences would be held.
● (1630)

Mr. Matthew Green: In any of your board meetings, did any of
the board members or any of the senior staff—including legal, fi‐
nancial and otherwise—raise concerns around the discrepancy and
the sensitivity of the donations?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I do not recall that they did.

The other thing I will say is that there were controls in place at
the foundation to deal with the issue of receipting for donations. As
you'll see from the package, the correspondence on the receipting
was between two more junior employees of the foundation, along
with a representative of the China Cultural Industry Association
who was working for Mr. Zhang and who simply said, “Could you
please send it to this address?”

When you say instructions from China, they were about what ad‐
dress to send it to.

Mr. Matthew Green: Was the address in China the address of
the China Cultural Industry Association?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The address we have, from the only re‐
search I've been able to do, is the same address, ultimately, as the
address given for Mr. Zhang in this Canadian government—

Mr. Matthew Green: Sure, but I'm sure a Google search or
something would probably bring up.... I want you to have the op‐
portunity to put on the record that it wasn't the China Cultural In‐
dustry Association, because you would recognize the relationship
between the People's Republic of China and this association as be‐
ing a proxy. Am I right?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I would recognize it. It's what I would
call a soft power organization. It was involved in the U of T dona‐
tion and the U of M donation—two of the biggest universities in
Canada.

Mr. Matthew Green: Here's my last question. You mentioned
the governance around the board. I'm trying to determine whether
significant governance issues have gotten us here today or there's
something more. That's where I'm at.

Can you explain to me the nature of how board members are ap‐
pointed? I understand there are three categories: ISED appointees,
Trudeau family appointees and the members. Is that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'd call them independent members.
Mr. Matthew Green: They're not independent of the family.

They make direct appointments, do they not?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. I'm sorry. The members of the

foundation, who are the equivalent of shareholders of a for-profit

corporation, have two jobs. One is to choose the auditors. The other
is to appoint the board.

Mr. Matthew Green: Do you mean all of the board?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, it's the independent members of the

board. You have three categories of members: family members,
government members and independent members.

Mr. Matthew Green: Who has the majority of the seats on the
board?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The independents do, I believe.
The Chair: Mr. Green, that concludes our first round.

We are going to go back to Mr. Barrett for five minutes.

Mr. Rosenberg, just so you know, on this committee the ex‐
changes typically happen between the members. I'm not so formal
as to have it come through the chair, so any interaction you have is
directly with committee members.

Go ahead, Mr. Barrett, for five minutes.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Did you follow the CCIA instructions on

where to send the receipt?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I believe my staff did. I don't believe I

was aware, at the time, of these interactions, and I don't believe I'm
copied on any of this material.

Mr. Michael Barrett: The receipt was sent to Hong Kong and
then to Beijing. Is that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I believe so. I should say that the 160
pages of access—

Mr. Michael Barrett: You signed the receipt, though.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, I signed the receipt.
Mr. Michael Barrett: However, you don't know where it was

sent.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: You're asking me to remember, eight

years later, where a receipt was sent. I don't.
Mr. Michael Barrett: With all due respect, you said this was an

unusual circumstance in that Mr. Trudeau signed this donation
agreement in an unusual ceremony with an unusually large dona‐
tion from a foreign country, which is quite unusual for the Trudeau
Foundation. Is that fair? Is this a usual set of circumstances we're
talking about here?

I highlight that it's so unusual because that's what we're seeing in
public reporting. We're seeing that a donation was made by individ‐
uals who were effectively cut-outs for a soft power operation and
operating on behalf of a Communist dictatorship looking to wield
influence in Canada.

You were the DM of foreign affairs. Is that correct?
● (1635)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I was.
Mr. Michael Barrett: In your time in the public service, you

would have been briefed and aware of foreign influence tactics as a
part of that job. Is that correct?
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Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Did you not find it odd that this donation

from Beijing, from cut-outs acting directly on behalf of the Com‐
munist dictatorship in Beijing...were suddenly looking to target a
donation to a foundation that bore the name of one of the candi‐
dates for prime minister in the election? You said it was a couple of
weeks before election day in 2015, and they wanted to get the mon‐
ey out the door quickly. Does that not strike you as concerning,
based on your training?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As I said in my opening remarks, you
have to look at this from the context of 2016. In the context of
2016, just about every university in Canada, many corporations and
the Government of Canada—including the Harper government—
had changed their attitude towards China.

Mr. Michael Barrett: With all due respect, sir, this is, as you
said, very unusual.

I need you to confirm this. How many times did Mr. Alexandre
Trudeau sign for donations on behalf of the foundation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I know of this one, and I can't con‐
firm.... I don't know of any others. I'm not sure there weren't ever
any others.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Did you have any conversations with Mr.
Alexandre Trudeau about this donation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I probably did, but I don't recall them.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Did he ever raise donors or donations

from China with you?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Do you mean other than this?
Mr. Michael Barrett: Yes.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No.
Mr. Michael Barrett: You did an Industry Canada lookup. I

want to go back to Mr. Green's question with respect to the China
Cultural Industry Association. This link is problematic because of
its direct connections to the CCP.

The address that this donation was sent to is incredibly impor‐
tant. You said you're not sure about where it went. Are you able to
verify that by searching your records, or would an email search
confirm that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't have access to the foundation's
records. All I have access to right now are the 160 pages that were
provided under access to information.

I know that representatives of the foundation are coming. They
have access to all of those records, and you, perhaps, would be bet‐
ter to ask them. I can't get those records myself.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I think that in 2016, we were aware of at‐
tempts by foreign governments to try to influence our democracy. I
want to ask one last question with my remaining time.

You saw the reporting after the donation was received. In 2022
and 2023 you would have been aware, with the benefit of hindsight,
of what appears to be a very problematic donation at best but an ob‐
vious influence attempt by the Chinese dictatorship at worst.

Do you think it was appropriate for you to accept a role to inves‐
tigate foreign influence in our elections when this had occurred at

the Trudeau Foundation, which, as has been reported, seems to be
quite clearly an influence operation to target the Prime Minister?

The Chair: I need a very quick response, Mr. Rosenberg.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes.

I didn't see a connection. As I've cited, Professor Wark didn't see
how this was an influence operation at all, and neither did I,
frankly.

When I took the job, by the way, back in June or July—it was
offered by the Privy Council Office—to examine this, I wasn't get‐
ting the whole view on whether there had been election interfer‐
ence. I was examining the operation of this one piece, the protocol,
and whether it was adequate. I said, “Well, it worked as it was in‐
tended to work, but there are some really big problems with it.”

I know that nobody wants to talk to me about my report, but a lot
of stuff in that report is critical of the government. There are 16 rec‐
ommendations on things they need to fix.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Rosenberg and Mr. Barrett.

I have Ms. Hepfner next.

Go ahead, please, for five minutes.

Ms. Lisa Hepfner (Hamilton Mountain, Lib.): Thank you,
Chair.

Thank you, Mr. Rosenberg, for being here with us today.

I would like to go back to your experience as deputy minister.
You served in both Conservative and Liberal governments, and I'd
like you to tell us a bit more about that experience and the different
ministers you worked for.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Sure. I worked for Anne McLellan,
Martin Cauchon, Irwin Cotler, Ujjal Dosanjh, Tony Clement, Leona
Aglukkaq, Lawrence Cannon and John Baird.

Ms. Lisa Hepfner: Would you say that a deputy minister has to
remain non-partisan, and how do you go about doing that in your
job as deputy minister?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: There are a number of ways you go
about doing it.

First of all, you don't engage in overt political activity.

Second, to the extent that politicians try to politicize the public
service, you push back on that.

Third, you give your best advice. The advice isn't tone-deaf to
politics because there is no point in giving advice that has zero
chance of being implemented, but it is the best neutral advice you
can give.

● (1640)

Ms. Lisa Hepfner: Thank you.
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Just a moment ago, you were speaking about your selection by
the Privy Council Office to write the 2021 critical election incident
public protocol. How does one go about being selected to write a
report like that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Well, I got an email from the assistant
secretary saying they were looking for somebody to do this inde‐
pendent report, which was done by another former colleague in
2019 after the election. They said, “Are you interested? Here is his
public report on the protocol.” I read it, and I called him up and
said, “Sure.” It looked like a really interesting job.

The other thing I should—
Ms. Lisa Hepfner: It was a purely civil service process.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: In fact, it was supposed to be indepen‐

dent of the government, so yes, it was a purely civil service pro‐
cess.

At the end of the day, the story about the Trudeau Foundation
that there was a meeting in 2014—according to an anonymous
source given to The Globe and Mail—where somebody apparently
said to this donor, “Give money to the Trudeau Foundation and
we'll pay you back”, actually came out on February 28.

I submitted my report before the end of the year, and there was
no issue. As I said, I wasn't examining election interference per se;
I was examining whether this protocol worked, whether the right
people were talking to the right people and whether the standard in
the protocol actually made sense because the nature of the problem
of foreign interference continued to evolve from the time the proto‐
col was first set up.

Ms. Lisa Hepfner: One of the conclusions in your report, per
the CBC, was that “attempts to interfere with the 2021 federal elec‐
tion did not affect the results”. However, you also stated, per the
CBC, that the government “should consider changing the rules to
allow the panel to alert Canadians to ‘potential’ impacts on election
integrity.”

Please tell us what that would look like. At what point should
Canadians be alerted? What would be the threshold?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: This is an issue that I didn't actually
make a recommendation on, but I said it needs study.

I talked to the Liberals, the NDP and the Conservatives—the
Bloc Québécois didn't want to talk to me—and there are different
views among the parties, but I felt that the threshold was so high
that only something akin to Russian interference in the U.S. elec‐
tion in 2016 would invoke the threshold.

However, what happens if you are aware that one or two ridings
or a particular ethnic group is being targeted with false information
and nobody says anything to them? I think you may need to consid‐
er a way of communicating that to the public without saying the sky
is falling and the whole election is going to be undermined, but in
specific instances, there is a problem and they should be aware.

This happened in the U.S. before the 2020 election. Three weeks
before, there was a press conference by the FBI and their cyberse‐
curity agency about Iranians posing as Proud Boys and emailing
voters in Alaska and Florida, telling them, “You'd better vote for

Donald Trump or else.” These agencies came out and said this is
false.

Ms. Lisa Hepfner: Thank you.

You talked about the length of your time in the public service, so
I'm sure you know that since 2015, this government has brought in
several measures, including the creation of NSICOP, the security
and intelligence threats to elections task force and the National Se‐
curity and Intelligence Review Agency. There are more.

What was done before 2015 to counter foreign interference?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't recall what was done before
2015 to counter foreign interference.

The issue has really come up a lot more since the 2016 U.S. elec‐
tion. I think that spurred a lot of other things. There seemed to be
Russian interference in the French election. I think that really raised
people's sensitivity about this and the need to do things, and I
would say that keeps evolving.

Just because the government put a five-point plan in a couple of
years ago.... You cannot rest on your laurels. That plan needs to be
updated. The nature of the threat is changing.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Hepfner.

[Translation]

We are going to move on to the next speaker.

Mr. Villemure, the floor is yours for two and a half minutes.

Mr. René Villemure: Mr. Rosenberg, I'm sure you understand
that I have only two and a half minutes.

I would like to know who organized the meeting of five deputy
ministers at the Langevin Building?

● (1645)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It was probably me, and I will explain
why.

One of the reasons why I got involved with the Pierre Elliott
Trudeau Foundation is the fact that, in my opinion, there are too
many barriers between the world of research and the world of poli‐
tics. I thought it was important that people in politics be aware of
the research being done, because it is paid for by public funds.

I have to point out that during my own and my deputy minister
colleagues' terms, when we had committee meetings—I chaired a
committee on global issues, for example—we always tried to invite
academics or members of research organizations to come and talk
to us about their projects.

Mr. René Villemure: I'm sorry to interrupt you, but we are
pressed for time.
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It was actually quite surprising to see that the Pierre Elliott
Trudeau Foundation was in the Prime Minister's building with ac‐
cess to five deputy ministers. That is not a common occurrence.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It may not be a common occurrence,
but the Langevin Building is located in downtown Ottawa, so it is
very central and it is a place where senior officials often meet. The
Prime Minister's office is not the only thing there; there is also the
Privy Council office.

The subject of the meeting related to the economic benefits of di‐
versity. Diversity, which is a subject of interest to the government,
had been the subject of a research project by one of our fellows and
one of our mentors. I spoke with someone and told him it would be
useful for his guys to be aware of it.

Mr. René Villemure: I'm sorry again.

Tell me, still, not everybody is given access to the Langevin
Building.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think you have to have permission.
There are people who are there. It isn't a prison. It's accessible if
necessary.

Mr. René Villemure: So you don't find that unusual. I must be
worrying about nothing, right?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't know whether it's as unusual as
that. I was at the Privy Council Office too, for five years, and I
wanted to hold meetings with people other than public servants. To
make public policy, you have to be familiar with various points of
view.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Villemure.

Mr. Green, you have two and a half minutes, please.
Mr. Matthew Green: Given the media coverage of the donation

in 2016, did you consider conducting an audit at the time?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No.
Mr. Matthew Green: Did the foundation conduct any further in‐

vestigation into the donors, the source of the donation or the condi‐
tions of the donation in light of the media coverage?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, because the media coverage at that
time was making a link between a meeting the Prime Minister had
been at—a so-called cash-for-access meeting—and the proximity of
that to the timing of the donation, and we knew that there had been
no coordination with the Office of the Prime Minister or anybody
else in the government on the timing of the donation. We were
completely unaware of the dinner the Prime Minister attended.

Mr. Matthew Green: Was there any communication between
you and the PMO?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, not me, although I do recall one ar‐
ticle that I saw, because there was a lot written about this. There
was a call from the Prime Minister's Office to one of the staff in the
foundation.

Mr. Matthew Green: Ms. Fournier stated that she remembers
reviewing emails between the executive director, Elise Comtois,
and the PMO. Were you aware of these emails?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't recall, but I will say, just to go
back, that if there were emails and there were documents that raised
questions about this stuff, why didn't the foundation management
call me to at least get my view on it so I could see the stuff and—

Mr. Matthew Green: Those are important questions.

There was testimony by Ms. Fournier that there was some disar‐
ray in the governance structure. As we saw when you left, board
members did leave en masse. That's not typical—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't think they left en masse.
Mr. Matthew Green: How many board members left at the

time?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'd have to go back and see. I know of

two.
Mr. Matthew Green: So more left after that.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't know. Once I left, I left.
Mr. Matthew Green: I can appreciate that.

You're stating that you had no information. Would the executive
director have informed you of email communication between the
foundation and the PMO?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It's possible. I'm really sorry. I'm trying
to answer your questions, but I also know enough to say when I
don't recall that I don't recall.

Mr. Matthew Green: That's fair.

Do you recall there being meetings hosted at the PMO with the
foundation?
● (1650)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Absolutely not.
Mr. Matthew Green: No?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, I mean there weren't.
Mr. Matthew Green: There weren't. You're categorically deny‐

ing—
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As I answered earlier, we were inde‐

pendent and very sensitive to that independence from the govern‐
ment, and doubly sensitive, I think, when Mr. Trudeau became
Prime Minister.

Mr. Matthew Green: Rightly so.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Green and Mr. Rosenberg.

[Translation]

To finish this round, I am going to allow two people to speak for
five minutes each, one Conservative and one Liberal. Then we will
go back to six minutes each, and I will be able to make adjustments
to speaking times as we get to the end of the meeting.

Mr. Berthold, the floor is yours for five minutes.
Mr. Luc Berthold (Mégantic—L'Érable, CPC): Thank you,

Mr. Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg, you were deputy minister of Foreign Affairs, is
that right?
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Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes.
Mr. Luc Berthold: How long did you hold that position?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It was from 2010 to 2013.
Mr. Luc Berthold: So you are very familiar with all the influ‐

ence networks and everything that may go on at the international
level. Particularly at this time, we are even more sensitive to that.

Did you not find it bizarre that the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Founda‐
tion would be receiving such a large amount of money right before
an election?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Frankly, no.

I can say it again: those were different times. It was after two of
the biggest universities in Canada had received money.

Mr. Luc Berthold: When you got instructions to issue a receipt
to people who were not the ones who had made the donations, did
you not find that bizarre?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, because we receive donations from
people who use their company to make donations.

Mr. Luc Berthold: Do you think it is okay to let Canadians be‐
lieve it is reasonable for two individuals to have made a donation to
a foundation and concealed the exact provenance of the company
that made the donation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Our intention was not to conceal any‐
thing.

Mr. Luc Berthold: You said earlier that you had sent the receipt
to an address in Hong Kong, at the request of the donors. But when
I look at the documents that the foundation sent, I see that the ad‐
dress on the receipt is indeed in Hong Kong. The address in Hong
Kong wasn't just on the envelope, it was actually on the receipt.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't have that document.
Mr. Luc Berthold: In a document, here, it says: “Official re‐

ceipt”, “Millennium Golden Eagle International (Canada) Inc.”,
“804‑805 Pacific Place”, “Queensway, Hong Kong, China”.

That is the receipt that was given directly, it isn't just an address
where you were told to send a Canadian receipt.

That didn't seem odd either?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, not at that time.
Mr. Luc Berthold: It is your name on the receipt. You signed a

receipt to a company incorporated in Canada, sent to Hong Kong,
and all of that combined was not enough to make you wonder, de‐
spite your experience as deputy minister of Foreign Affairs.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, not at that time, because I think we
had been asked to send the receipt to Zhang Bin's address. I thought
it was his address, but I'm not certain.

As I said—
Mr. Luc Berthold: Mr. Rosenberg, the receipt does not say ex‐

actly what you say.

You talked about a mailing address for sending a receipt. Now, I
see that the receipt was sent to an address in China. I'm going to ask
you a real question.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Who can use the receipt?

Mr. Luc Berthold: Regardless of who uses it, Mr. Rosenberg, it
should have raised questions regarding the provenance of the dona‐
tion, which was different from what you had been promised in the
agreement signed by the two donors.

Did it often happen that you sent receipts of that kind overseas?
Was that the first time?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't recall.
Mr. Luc Berthold: To your knowledge, was Alexandre Trudeau

involved in other discussions about other donations to the Pierre El‐
liott Trudeau Foundation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't recall.
Mr. Luc Berthold: So that would be the only time when

Alexandre Trudeau was involved in a donation of that size to the
foundation during the years you were there.
● (1655)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It might be better if you asked him to‐
morrow.

Mr. Luc Berthold: Yes, but to your knowledge, as the former
president and CEO of the foundation, was that the only time?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: To my knowledge, there were no other
times, but as I said, it was eight years ago now. I don't have an ex‐
act recollection of everything that happened.

Mr. Luc Berthold: Mr. Rosenberg, given all the information
available to you, and given also that you had experience as deputy
minister of Foreign Affairs and all the circumstances that emerged
from the testimony we have heard, we might be a bit surprised at
the naïveté with which you handled this information and all the oth‐
er information at that time.

Unfortunately, you were responsible for the final analysis of for‐
eign interference in the 2021 election. Were you just as naive in the
way all the information submitted was dealt with?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: My report speaks for itself. I was not
naive.

I even said that the situation had changed a lot since a few years
ago. A lot of testimony from our security agencies indicates that
there really is a problem, particularly when it comes to China, but
there are also problems with other countries.

Mr. Luc Berthold: Mr. Rosenberg, unfortunately, you have been
one of the privileged witnesses to how the Chinese communist
regime started wanting to influence the Trudeau government.

The Chair: Mr. Berthold, your five minutes are up.
Mr. Luc Berthold: I didn't see you. Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you.

[English]

Next we have Mr. Bains.

Go ahead for five minutes, please.
Mr. Parm Bains (Steveston—Richmond East, Lib.): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.
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Thank you, Mr. Rosenberg, for joining us today.

I know you mentioned that nobody wants to talk about your re‐
port, but I actually do. I'd like to ask about your work on the for‐
eign interference report.

One of the recommendations we've heard from past witnesses is
the need for MPs and senators to be briefed on foreign interference.
I know that I was never briefed before my election on steps I could
take to protect myself.

What format do you think those briefings should take? Could
you touch upon the 16 recommendations and other things?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Sure.

First of all, I think a start would be unclassified briefings about
what to watch out for and about the kinds of methods that foreign
diplomats or others might try to use to entice MPs.

Very importantly, I would add that when my focus was on the
federal election, what I learned in doing this work was that this in‐
fluence starts much earlier. It starts with people who are interested
in public issues, people who are community leaders, people who
are on school boards, people who are in municipal government and
people who are in provincial government. Really, these briefings
need to be much broader than just for MPs and senators.

The fact that we haven't yet been briefing MPs and senators, I
think, is something that needs to be remedied very quickly. It needs
to go beyond that as well. There have to be discussions with
provincial and municipal governments to educate them on these is‐
sues.

Mr. Parm Bains: Let's say there are bad actors involved. It's
hard for our security agencies to warn potential election candidates.

What would the briefing look like in terms of who to look out
for, what kinds of things to look out for and what the difference is
between interference and influence?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: This is the big question. It's not an easi‐
ly resolvable one. I'm not sure all the political parties necessarily
want the same thing, because right now my understanding is that
the only real vetting that takes place of people is when they are be‐
ing considered for cabinet. There isn't a general vetting of every‐
body who might be running for Parliament. That's a lot of work. It
takes a lot of resources, but that has to be part of the conversation.

Other things have to be part of the conversation: Who's coming
out to nomination meetings? How are these things being run? Are
they being manipulated by anybody? Are people who are not Cana‐
dian citizens being bused in to vote for preferred candidates?

It's a lot. As I said, it's changing. Because we have been focusing
on China, there have been reports recently, and not surprisingly,
that the Russians are interested in all NATO countries and are try‐
ing to have people be less supportive of Ukraine.

Mr. Parm Bains: You said the nature of the threats is changing
as they evolve. What things are you seeing change from before,
when you were doing the report?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: One of the interesting things about my
report—and we haven't talked about this at all—is that the protocol
talked about not just foreign interference but domestic interference

as well. They are very different animals. One of the problems, and
one of the frustrations I had, is that there was no publicity about
this protocol before the election, unlike in 2019. The protocol was
put up on the government's website when the election was called,
and it was different. It then said “domestic interference”, and,
frankly, nobody knew exactly what that meant. The only thing I
know is that it doesn't mean the typical kind of interference. There
were increasing concerns about violence from domestic actors with
respect to the leader of NDP and, to some extent, to the Prime Min‐
ister, so yes, that's an issue.

I said to the PCO that nobody seemed to really understand well
enough what it meant to have domestic interference in this report. I
asked the PCO, “What are you going to do about it? Are there dif‐
ferent parameters on it than you would apply to foreign interfer‐
ence?”

You cannot take away the free speech of Canadians. Canadians
can say whatever they want about an election within the limits of
hate or whatever.

● (1700)

Mr. Parm Bains: Are you talking about misinformation and dis‐
information? Is that a key threat?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes. It's a key threat from not just for‐
eign actors. We recognize that it's increasing from domestic actors
and violent extremists.

Mr. Parm Bains: You mentioned there were a number of coun‐
tries involved. What other countries do you think were involved?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The were the Iranians, Russians and
Chinese. There may be some others that I'm not privy to say.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Bains and Mr. Rosenberg.

We're resetting now with six-minute rounds.

We are going to Mr. Cooper for six minutes.

Mr. Michael Cooper (St. Albert—Edmonton, CPC): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chair, and thank you, Mr. Rosenberg.

Mr. Rosenberg, you claim that the source of the donation was
Millennium Golden Eagle International (Canada) Inc., yet on July
14, 2016, when you sent international bank transfer instructions,
nowhere mentioned in that letter is Millennium Golden Eagle Inter‐
national (Canada) Inc. The only names on that letter were Bin and
Niu. Why?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't have the document, and I can't
answer the question because I don't recall that right now.
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Mr. Michael Cooper: That's highly suspicious. You signed it.
It's highly suspicious that on a document sent to transfer the money,
nowhere is that entity mentioned. It just has the names of those
donors.

You claim the receipt was sent to the registered office of this
company, yet in the September 26, 2016, correspondence with the
Trudeau Foundation, the address the receipt was requested to be
sent to is the same address as the China Cultural Industry Associa‐
tion. Can you explain that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'll say two things. First of all, I know
that Mr. Zhang was the president of Millennium International and
director of Millennium Canada. I'm not sure what his other posi‐
tions were. He was also the president of the China—

Mr. Michael Cooper: Do you know what the China Cultural In‐
dustry Association is? It's a company associated with the United
Front Work Department.

Mr. Rosenberg, you said with a straight face that you saw no evi‐
dence of a foreign interference network with respect to this dona‐
tion. What does Millennium Golden Eagle International do, by the
way?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As far as I know, they're a media com‐
pany.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Did you ever bother to do any due dili‐
gence? Did you bother to even go to their website? Maybe if you
did, Mr. Rosenberg—

Ms. Iqra Khalid: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: This had better be on a procedural basis, Ms. Khalid.
Ms. Iqra Khalid: I'm just wondering if there is any procedure to

ensure that witnesses who come before this committee are treated
with respect.

The Chair: I'm not seeing any evidence of disrespect. I'm seeing
a hard line of questioning from Mr. Cooper. If it does cross that
line, I'll deal with it. I do want to remind members of the committee
that points of order are made on a procedural basis and not because
you don't like what you're hearing.

Go ahead, Mr. Cooper. I stopped your time. You have three min‐
utes and 35 seconds.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Did you even bother to go to the website of this company?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As I've explained, the way receipting

was dealt with—
Mr. Michael Cooper: I guess the answer to that is no, because if

you had bothered.... It's a yes-or-no question.
The Chair: Mr. Cooper, you do have to give him a chance to an‐

swer, please.

Go ahead.
● (1705)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Receipting was done by staff in the
foundation in conjunction with our accountant, and when I got a re‐
ceipt to sign, I assumed it was fine.

Mr. Michael Cooper: Hopefully they knew how to use Google,
because had they bothered to do so or had you bothered to do your
due diligence, you would have known that the website of Millenni‐
um Golden Eagle International states that part of their mandate is to
take governmental guidance from Beijing. If you had bothered to
do your due diligence, you would have known that Zhang Bin was
a political adviser to the Beijing regime.

You came before this committee with a straight face, as the for‐
mer deputy minister of foreign affairs, and said, “There's nothing to
see here” in the face of that. Are you serious?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, I'm serious, and I'll answer your
question.

First of all, Zhang Bin was introduced to Mr. Lefebvre at the
Université de Montréal by our former ambassador in China, Mr.
Guy Saint-Jacques, whom I actually spoke to yesterday. Mr. Saint-
Jacques was very well aware of the associations that Mr. Zhang
had, and I think it was felt that almost everybody in China who was
anybody had some connection with the government. The question
was, what were they trying to influence?

Mr. Michael Cooper: This agreement began to crystallize with
this individual associated with the United Front Work Department,
and with this shell company, the address of which was a house in
Dorval. It was insisted, as a condition, that the Prime Minister's
brother be involved, and all of this was happening one month be‐
fore a federal election campaign.

Didn't you see anything to be concerned about? Was there no red
flag for you to indicate that maybe you should look into this, that
maybe you should do your due diligence and that maybe there was
something here? Was there nothing at all?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: First of all, these discussions started in
2014, before I arrived at the foundation and long before the federal
election in 2015. Mr. Lefebvre, who was negotiating this principal‐
ly, was advised by our ambassador in China that Mr. Zhang was a
good person to talk to. At that time, there were lots of Canadian or‐
ganizations dealing with other—

Mr. Michael Cooper: Mr. Rosenberg, one of two things is possi‐
ble. Either you are completely incompetent or you were wilfully
blind. There is nothing in your record to indicate that you were in‐
competent. The only conclusion I can draw is that you were wilful‐
ly blind.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!
The Chair: Mr. Cooper, thank you for your time.

Let's have some decorum here, please.

We are going now to Mr. Fergus for six minutes.

Go ahead, please.
Hon. Greg Fergus: Mr. Rosenberg, let me first apologize for the

needless insults you had there, given your long history in service to
our country. We can ask tough questions, but we don't have to be
disagreeable to do so.

Sir, let's talk about tax receipts.
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Can tax receipts be used by any person or company who doesn't
pay taxes in Canada?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As far as I know, they can't.

The example I would use is this. I make a donation to a Canadian
company, and I'm retired and spend six months in the south of
France. If I say, “Send the receipt to my address in the south of
France”, then I get it there. I would then file the receipt with my
income tax to get a deduction for my tax. I think this is something
along the lines of what happened here.

The assumption that we were somehow nefariously trying to hide
the real identity of the donor.... The cheque came from Millennium
Golden Eagle International (Canada) Inc. The receipt was made out
to Millennium Golden Eagle International (Canada) Inc. This is
why I think there needs to be an independent investigation in this
whole thing.

Somebody not only needs to look at the documents but also
needs to bring in the people at the Trudeau Foundation who were
there at the time. Frankly, maybe somebody should go and speak to
the company in Dorval. Maybe somebody should speak to the
Canada Revenue Agency about whether they thought there was
anything untoward about this.

We had no malevolent intent. We thought, and we believed
strongly, that we were complying with the law by sending the re‐
ceipt to the person who made the donation.
● (1710)

Hon. Greg Fergus: That's fair enough.

Let's also talk about the meeting at Langevin Block, as it was
known at the time.

You indicated in your testimony, and I think the record would
state, that the building is used by the Prime Minister's Office. It's
also used by the Privy Council Office with the Privy Council being
a central agency of the government. Deputy ministers, of course,
have a particular responsibility. The clerk would be your boss.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Sort of, yes.
Hon. Greg Fergus: I mean of the deputy minister community, I

would assume.

Deputy ministers often go outside to seek advice. Before I be‐
came a member of Parliament, I used to work for Canada's univer‐
sities. I know that on occasion some of our researchers, or, frankly,
some of the university presidents or college presidents, were invited
to offer an opinion on particular subjects.

Can you please indicate to us what the intention was behind the
meeting that you had set up at that time?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As I said to Mr. Villemure, the intention
of the meeting was.... We knew that the government had diversity
and pluralism as a priority back in 2015. A fellow from, I believe,
the University of Waterloo and one of our mentors, who was a for‐
mer diplomat, were doing a research study on the economic bene‐
fits of diversity, which varied very much from industry to indus‐
try—the ethnic composition varied from industry to industry—and
we thought it would be an interesting piece of research that could
help the government as it developed its policies.

I spoke with a deputy secretary in the PCO and said, “Hey, we're
doing this work. Do you think this would be of interest to people?”
He said yes, because it touched the work of Industry Canada, Immi‐
gration Canada, Canadian Heritage and I forget who else. It was
kind of a horizontal issue. People knew me and thought, I guess,
that I had credibility, so they were willing to come to a meeting
with me.

Hon. Greg Fergus: I have a minute and 45 seconds left.

Let's go back to the question of influence.

I'd like to go back to a question that Madame Martinez Ferrada
asked you. The first contact happened in 2014. Is that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, as far as I know.
Hon. Greg Fergus: It was between the then president of the

Université de Montréal—
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, the vice-rector at the Université de

Montréal.
Hon. Greg Fergus: Thank you for that correction.

I certainly remember 2014 because that was the year I was nomi‐
nated. We were nominated into a situation where we were polling
second, moving on to third—dropping in the polls. If you were a
foreign government trying to influence an organization, you'd think
they would go after the party that was number one in the polls.

There was no request—as you answered the question—from the
donor to influence the study program, to speak out on issues or to
avoid speaking out on issues. Can you confirm that was the case,
that there were no demands whatsoever?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: There were no demands. In fact, one of
the other things that's interesting.... There are two articles in Le De‐
voir that I will provide. One is an interview with Mr. Saint-Jacques
and the other is an interview with Mr. Lefebvre. The interview with
Mr. Lefebvre said that, absolutely, the Trudeau Foundation wasn't
involved from the start. He then says in the article:
[Translation]

The involvement of the organization, which was founded in memory of former
Prime Minister Pierre Elliott Trudeau, even annoyed the Chinese businessman,
according to Mr. Lefebvre. “Zhang Bin was not in a very good mood; he wasn't
happy that there was another player”...

[English]

According to this article, he wasn't very happy about it.
The Chair: Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Fergus. We went over time a bit on that one.
[Translation]

Mr. Villemure, the floor is yours for six minutes.
Mr. René Villemure: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg, you have been critical of the fact that no one is
talking about your report. We are going to talk a bit about it. I am
going to follow up on what my colleague said.

Could you tell me what the difference is between influence and
interference?
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● (1715)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: One of the big differences is the influ‐
ence that we might call the power of persuasion. A lot of countries,
including ours, use that.

I have to say, and I want to stress this, that the mindset really was
different during the 2010s.

Mr. René Villemure: What is the difference between influence
and interference?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Interference is more of a secret inter‐
vention.
[English]

I'm going to say this in English, just to be clear.

With the Chinese, one thing that's really difficult is.... If you take
what happened in B.C.—it was Kenny Chiu's riding—there was
stuff that started in China in newspapers and was picked up on
WeChat. There were people in the community who said, gee, this
guy Kenny Chiu is a bad guy because he'll bring in this foreign in‐
fluence registry that's going to require all Chinese to register and
the Conservative Party is going to break relations or whatever. The
question is, how much of this was being orchestrated by Beijing
and how much of this was a genuine view of Chinese Canadians or
other Canadians?

There are people in Canada who have business relations with
China and who have very strong interests in maintaining them. If a
party takes a view that's counter to China's, they may, completely in
good faith, be expressing their views. On the other hand, there are
other people who may have family in China who have been threat‐
ened, and they need to speak the party line. How you tell the differ‐
ence between the two is very hard.
[Translation]

Mr. René Villemure: That is ambiguous, actually.

I have read your report. I assume that you had the competencies
of a former deputy minister of Foreign Affairs.

Were there other considerations? I'm not talking about partisan
considerations. On what basis were you chosen?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I was chosen for three of my experi‐
ences that were perhaps relevant: one at the Department of Foreign
Affairs and another at the Department of Justice. The deputy minis‐
ter of Justice is a member of the deputy ministers' committee. I also
spent five years at the Privy Council Office.

They wanted someone who understood how the machine works.
I had that knowledge. My predecessor, Jim Judd, who is a former
deputy minister of National Defence and a former director of the
security service, had training similar to mine.

Mr. René Villemure: You said earlier that your report wasn't
about foreign interference, it was about the use of the protocol. In
fact, the report documents what the protocol is, how it was used,
and what can be improved. That is clear.

In your report, 23 words out of 23,000 talk about interference. So
it is not a report about interference. However, the Prime Minister
has been telling us for months that your report concluded that there

was no interference. In the House, we are told that your report con‐
cluded that there was no interference, although very little is said
about it.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The only thing I can say is that I think
my report speaks for itself. I did not do any interpretation.

My report deals with the operation of the protocol. At the begin‐
ning, I gave a kind of introduction to inform people of what inter‐
ference is. As well, I quoted what the people I interviewed said, in‐
cluding what the people responsible for the security services said. I
also quoted what was said by deputy directors of the Canadian Se‐
curity Intelligence Service and by senior officials at the Communi‐
cations Security Establishment, or CSE—

Mr. René Villemure: Mr. Rosenberg, the instruction given in
your report is remarkable. I have nothing to say about that.

However, what intrigues me are the four lines on page 46 that
say we cannot conclude that there was interference. That is what is
said in those four lines. However, our Prime Minister says the re‐
port concludes that there was no interference.

That seems to me to be a greatly exaggerated interpretation of
your report. Regarding the protocol, the application and the evalua‐
tion, your report is exceptional. But it was not a report about inter‐
ference.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: It is not a report about interference, and
I did not make that recommendation.
[English]

I'll say this in English.

The United States Director of National Intelligence does a report
on foreign interference, a secure version and a public version, with‐
in a couple of months of the election. We should consider doing the
same thing.
[Translation]

Mr. René Villemure: It is a very interesting recommendation.

Would you agree with me that the interpretation given by the
Prime Minister in public is greatly exaggerated?
● (1720)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Given that I did not hear what the
Prime Minister said, I can't comment on that.

Mr. René Villemure: Okay, thank you.

Rightly or wrongly, your independence has been widely ques‐
tioned. When someone has a direct connection with the Pierre El‐
liot Trudeau Foundation and is retained to assess interference, but is
not certain whether there was interference in the past, that seems to
me to be everything but “independent”.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Can you repeat that?
Mr. René Villemure: That isn't “independent”.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: With all due respect, I think I did the

job I was asked to do. Is having been the president of the Pierre El‐
liott Trudeau Foundation going to mean I am denied access to all
sorts of positions?
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As I said, I didn't think that what happened in 2016 was connect‐
ed with interference.

I'm going to read the comments by Professor Wark that I read,
again. Just a moment. I'm looking for the passage in question.

Mr. René Villemure: That's fine, I remember what you said.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Okay.
Mr. René Villemure: Good. Having worked at the Pierre Elliott

Trudeau Foundation doesn't disqualify you. I am simply asking you
for your interpretation of that.

Do you think it is reasonable for people to doubt your indepen‐
dence?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think that is the perception some peo‐
ple have, but, in my opinion, it is not accurate.

Mr. René Villemure: Okay, thank you.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Villemure and Mr. Rosenberg.

[English]

Mr. Green, you have six minutes. Go ahead.
Mr. Matthew Green: Mr. Rosenberg, I can imagine that being

before this committee, considering some of the allegations, insinua‐
tions and outright attacks on your character and reputation, is prob‐
ably not easy for you to sit through.

You've stated that you thought a public inquiry might have
helped. Do you agree that perhaps this could have been avoided if
the relationship between the former governor general, Mr. David
Johnston, the foundation and the investigation into this.... Could
that have helped your position as the former president of the orga‐
nization?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think there are a whole lot of balls up
in the air on this.

Mr. Matthew Green: There sure are.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I said at the end of my remarks, with

respect to all this stuff about the Trudeau Foundation and the 2016
donation, that there should be an independent investigation. It think
that's different from the broader issue of an investigation into the is‐
sue of election interference.

Mr. Matthew Green: Mr. David Johnston was a member of the
Trudeau Foundation. Is that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: He was a member of the Trudeau Foun‐
dation, yes.

Mr. Matthew Green: Would you not do a political risk analysis
as a former DM and say this also complicates the relationship
with—

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I was non-partisan as a deputy, and I
don't think I'm going to wade into whether.... I have enormous re‐
spect for Mr. Johnston.

Mr. Matthew Green: Let me put this to you in a very direct
way.

Given the insinuations that have been put here.... Quite frankly, I
am unconvinced at this moment that this is simply a matter of gov‐
ernance. It's very difficult for me to unpack what's been presented
by your testimony and Ms. Fournier's.

Could you not contemplate that this particular situation would al‐
so be included in an investigation of foreign interference given the
allegations?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I guess somebody would have to look
at what the appropriate mandate for that is. I will tell you, whatever
happens, whether it's a public inquiry, parliamentary committee,
NSICOP or whatever, it will have to have a focused mandate on
this. Otherwise, it's just not going to be worth anything.

The other thing I would say is that I really hope that the focus on
what happened in the 2021 and 2019 elections doesn't take away
from people thinking about what's happening right now as we go
forward.

Mr. Matthew Green: I'm going to intervene.

Mr. Zhang is a Chinese citizen. Is that correct?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As far as I know, yes.
Mr. Matthew Green: As far as you know...?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No. I believe he's a Chinese citizen,

yes.
Mr. Matthew Green: You are somebody who's prided yourself

in your testimony as being someone who provides the government
with advice on protocols. However, in her testimony Ms. Fournier
painted a very different picture of the governance of the Trudeau
Foundation.

One thing that I've had trouble reconciling, given my experience
with a local foundation and the high level of diligence that was pre‐
sented by a community foundation, is the lack of due diligence,
quite frankly, at the Trudeau Foundation. You have all of these sub‐
ject matter experts around the table at the board. Nobody's raising
issues. Nobody—in her testimony—is recusing themselves from
the perception of conflict of interest.

Can you just state for the record and perhaps respond to some of
those allegations? What was the state of the governance of the
Trudeau Foundation under your leadership?
● (1725)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think the state of the governance was
pretty good under my leadership.

Mr. Matthew Green: Did you have, in retrospect, the appropri‐
ate protocols in place to deal with the political sensitivity of run‐
ning a foundation on the former prime minister's name, while his
son is the current Prime Minister and the Prime Minister's brother is
on the board?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The first thing that was done was that
he stopped being active before I came on the scene.

Mr. Matthew Green: His name didn't.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: His name...with an asterisk.
Mr. Matthew Green: Do you think that Mr. Zhang Bin would

have provided a million-dollar donation after the 2016 pay-for-ac‐
cess Liberal fundraiser dinner? Do you think he would have done
that if the foundation's last name was Smith?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: First of all, they provided us
with $200,000, not a million dollars.
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I just want to say one other thing about what was provided and
the whole issue of influence.

Mr. Lefebvre actually talked about this in an article that he
wrote. Back then, it's not that we were naive that we were dealing
with people who were linked to the Chinese government, because
just about everybody was. What we were naive about was that we
actually believed by dealing with them that we would have a soft-
power influence on them. I'm telling you—

Mr. Matthew Green: That's the mistake of every western coun‐
try that thinks it's going to have soft power over China, sir.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's where we were.
Mr. Matthew Green: You were the former DM to foreign af‐

fairs.

Respectfully, I've been pretty neutral until that comment. That
has a level of hubris, I think, which is the challenge that this foun‐
dation is facing, quite frankly. That has gotten us into this mess.

I want to dial in on the $200,000 donation. I thought a subse‐
quent larger offer was presented and then rejected. I may have rec‐
ollected it incorrectly.

In her testimony to this committee, Ms. Fournier stated that you
had not asked to receive the remaining $60,000 of the donation,
which was due on July 1, 2018. Why did you not take the rest of
the money?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't recall. I was just about out the
door on July 1, 2018.

Mr. Matthew Green: You don't recall why you....

Just so that we're clear, your records indicate that, in subsequent
years, your average donation of total donations was $25,000. This
was an outlier donation. You are an endowment that is not depen‐
dent on donations.

You took $200,000, and then didn't take the last payment. You
would have been the one to make the decision not to take the last
payment. Why?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't recall at the moment why.

I would say this. Given all the publicity around the donation in
The Globe and Mail, we had to put off the conferences that we
were going to have.

Mr. Matthew Green: This is my last question.

With that scrutiny, did you enact any type of investigation after
that?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No, we didn't.
The Chair: That's the first round of questioning.

We're next going to a five-minute round. It's the second round.

We are going to begin with Mr. Brock.

Go ahead, Mr. Brock. You have five minutes.
Mr. Larry Brock (Brantford—Brant, CPC): Thank you,

Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg, we've heard a number of issues. I just want to
confirm one point with respect to Alexandre Trudeau.

Your evidence is, to the best of your recollection, without refer‐
ring to any of the documentation you had before you, that Alexan‐
dre Trudeau was only instrumental in negotiating one contract for
the Trudeau Foundation—yes or no?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: To the best of my recollection, yes.
Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you.

Following up on Mr. Green's last question to you, I'm not satis‐
fied with your response that it was close to your departure.

That payment was due on July 1, pursuant to the contract. Is that
correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'd have to look at the contract, but I'll
assume it was.

Mr. Larry Brock: The first payment was in 2016. The second
payment was in 2017. The third payment...?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I'd have to look at the contract to see.
Mr. Larry Brock: Okay.

You also interviewed with Vassy Kapelos on CTV's Question Pe‐
riod some time ago. You were quoted as saying that if a situation
existed today, in hindsight, looking at it from a 2023 perspective,
not a 2016 perspective, you would not have accepted donations.
You said, “I think there would have been a different decision made
for sure.”

Do you stand by that statement?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes. As I said—
Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you.

You'd agree with me, being a DM of foreign affairs, that the very
issue of foreign election interference was very much on the radar
map in 2016, as it certainly is in 2023.
● (1730)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I would say it was only after the U.S.
election.

Mr. Larry Brock: I think you also appreciate, sir, that there
have been a number of articles and a number of interviews given by
a number of entities that have severely questioned your integrity
and your character with respect to your handling of this particular
donation, and your being instrumental in preparing the report sent
to the Prime Minister.

The media is asking questions and questioning your integrity and
ethics. Canadian politicians are asking the very same question.
Canadians are asking that question. Chinese Canadians, particular‐
ly, are asking that question. Now we find out your former col‐
leagues at the foundation are asking that question.

According to you, from all the evidence—
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Which former colleagues?
Mr. Larry Brock: I'm not going to specify that.
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What I've heard so far from you today is, notwithstanding every‐
thing that is going on around the situation, you saw no red flags
whatsoever with respect to this donation. Is that correct?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: At the time, that is correct. We actually
thought there was no pressure put on us and the money came with
no strings attached. The idea of putting on conferences to do with
China was very attractive.

Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you, sir.

There were no strings attached and no direct effort to influence
Justin Trudeau, the new Prime Minister of this country. You didn't
see any red flags whatsoever.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I did not.
Mr. Larry Brock: Is that right?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's correct.
Mr. Larry Brock: In fact, you told Vassy you had “no reason to

think there was anything untoward about [the donation]. These do‐
nations were for putting on conferences.”

Is that correct?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's correct.
Mr. Larry Brock: This is notwithstanding that, at the time, you

also knew there was a report from The Globe and Mail regarding a
leaked CSIS source.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: At the time, no.
Mr. Larry Brock: The CSIS source intercepted a 2014 conver‐

sation between Mr. Zhang and an unnamed commercial attaché at
one of China's consulates in Canada. They discussed the federal
election that was expected to take place in 2015 and the possibility
the Liberals would defeat Stephen Harper's Conservatives and form
the next government. The diplomat told Mr. Zhang that Beijing
would reimburse him for the entire amount of the donation to the
Trudeau Foundation, according to the source.

I am gobsmacked beyond belief to listen to you, in the role as
president and CEO and a former deputy minister of foreign affairs,
suggesting you knew nothing about CSIS intercepting a very im‐
portant call. You know CSIS reports to the government on any po‐
litical interference whatsoever. You know that.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Would you like me to answer?
Mr. Larry Brock: Yes.
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Okay. First of all, the first I ever heard

of that was in an article that was published in The Globe and Mail
on February 28, 2023.

Mr. Larry Brock: No one believes you. Canadians don't believe
you, sir.

Hon. Greg Fergus: Mr. Chair—
The Chair: We are again at a point of order.

We have three seconds left here, Mr. Fergus.
Hon. Greg Fergus: I think it's important to raise this, regardless

of the time that's left, if it was at the beginning or the end. I'm refer‐
ring to Standing Order 117, which is decorum.

Mr. Chair, I think it is incumbent upon us to conduct ourselves
with decorum and to not only allow only the witness to answer the
question, but to refrain from impugning the character of the witness
when they're in the middle of answering a question.

I could add—
The Chair: Thank you.

I've read the standing order, Mr. Fergus. My expectation from all
members is that they treat our witnesses with courtesy and respect.
That's my expectation. If I see any evidence otherwise, I'll certainly
intervene. I have intervened on at least one occasion today.

I thank you for that intervention on the standing order.

Mr. Brock, according to my clock, you had three seconds left.
I'm not sure we can gain anything—

Mr. Larry Brock: My point has been made.

Thank you.
[Translation]

The Chair: The next speaker is Mr. Fergus.
[English]

You have five minutes. Go ahead, please.
Hon. Greg Fergus: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, again, Mr. Rosenberg. Once again, I feel obliged to
offer some apology to you.

Let us go a little bit deeper in terms of where we were in 2014.
At that time, you had indicated that all governments were seeking
to.... China was not considered in a poor light. The regime was not
consider in the poor light that it is today.
● (1735)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: That's correct.
Hon. Greg Fergus: Would we be signing a foreign investment

protection agreement at this point, in 2023? Would it be reasonable
to say that we signed one in the 2010s, because it was seen to be in
the interests of Canada to do so?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I assume that when the Government of
Canada acts, it's in the interests of the Government of Canada.

Hon. Greg Fergus: That's fair enough.

In regard to that, at the time that this donation was being offered
to the foundation, as you indicated in answer to a question from Mr.
Green, in fact you thought it was an opportunity for Canada to be
able to use its soft power.

In what ways did you think that Canada could have used its soft
power? Was it on academic freedom? Was it on research?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The negotiations evolved. Mr. Lefeb‐
vre, in one of the articles where he talked about this, actually said
that he thought at the time that engaging with the Chinese would
give him and the Université de Montréal an opportunity to make
them familiar with our governance methods, with rule-of-law issues
and with human rights issues. Was that naive? At the time, in hind‐
sight, it probably it was naive.
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I remember going to China under the Harper government and
having a dialogue with my colleague. Part of my instruction—and I
followed it—was to raise human rights issues with the Chinese.
They don't like it, but we did it because at that time, we honestly
believed—this is going back to Bill Clinton and bringing them into
the WTO—that if we only brought them into the international eco‐
nomic system, they would become more democratic over time. We
were wrong, but we believed that. That belief still existed in the
2010s. That's why we operated that way.

I'm sorry that Mr. Green doesn't buy that, but I think we felt we
could do more good. We weren't being told what to do. Having con‐
ferences on climate change, on trade and even on human rights is‐
sues and other global issues would be a good thing. Some of the
Chinese students who were at the Université de Montréal and who
would attend those would be influenced by them.

The Université de Montréal believed that the Chinese students—
they did have a Chinese students program—being exposed to our
way of life and to our rule of law, would, I guess by osmosis in a
way, impact China. I don't think any of us saw the current regime
coming. It took a number of years for us to change our minds.

In 2017, you had an article in University Affairs by the rector at
the University of Ottawa saying they should do more research with
China. This was in 2017.

It took a while. It took the wolf warrior diplomacy, the change of
attitude in Hong Kong and the kidnapping of the two Michaels for
us to realize that this was not the China we were dealing with a few
years ago. Until then, I think a lot of us were in a more naive place.
Hindsight is 20/20.

Hon. Greg Fergus: It truly is.

In regard, again, to the donation itself, I just want to get back to
this. Once again, in terms of sending out the receipt for that dona‐
tion, you quite cogently pointed out that it was similar to working
in a different place.

That receipt really had no value whatsoever, except if it were
used for the purpose of filing one's taxes by a business or an indi‐
vidual.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: As I understand it, yes. I am not a tax
accountant, but it seems pretty obvious.

Hon. Greg Fergus: Fair enough.

Thank you, sir.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Fergus.

As it stands right now, we started at around 5:52, so we have two
and half minutes for Mr. Villemure and Mr. Green. I think we're go‐
ing to split two and half minutes each between the Conservatives
and the Liberals to conclude this round of questioning.

Mr. Villemure, you have two and half minutes.
● (1740)

[Translation]
Mr. René Villemure: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg, if it were a case of interference, the company
would not be concerned about getting a tax receipt, right?

You said earlier that there is a world of perceptions. The prevail‐
ing perception is that independence is not possible, even though
you are trying to demonstrate it here.

What are your connections with Justin Trudeau?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't have any. I met Justin Trudeau
for about 15 seconds at a cabinet retreat. I was one of the deputy
ministers who gave a briefing to members of the new cabinet on re‐
lations with—

Mr. René Villemure: I have to interrupt you, Mr. Rosenberg, be‐
cause my speaking time is limited to two and a half minutes.

What are your connections with Alexandre Trudeau?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I know him much better, because he
was a member of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation board of di‐
rectors when I was working there.

Mr. René Villemure: Even though you met Justin Trudeau for
only 15 seconds, do you agree with me that he can still exercise in‐
fluence, even if he says nothing? His name is well known and he is
the Prime Minister; that does carry some weight.

Do you think his name and the fact that he is Prime Minister
might constitute influence?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I don't know, but for myself, no.

During my career in government, I always gave my opinions to
the best of my knowledge and I always acted independently.

That is the spirit in which I held my office at the Pierre Elliott
Trudeau Foundation.

Mr. René Villemure: What do you say to the Canadians watch‐
ing us who do not believe that you are independent, that there was
no influence? Some people have a lot of doubts. What would you
say to clear that up or confirm it?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The only thing I can say is that I have
always tried to stay independent. I can't change the perception of
people who don't want to believe me, unfortunately.

I have never acted in bad faith, and I have always acted in the
best interests of the Pierre Elliott Trudeau Foundation.

Mr. René Villemure: Okay.

Mr. Rosenberg, in 2016, Canada may have been naive about for‐
eign policy and China's designs, but other countries were less so.
Things have changed, and the context has also changed.

Canada was naive, but other countries were less so than us, isn't
that right?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think every country has followed a
gradual path, but things changed suddenly for Canada in
about 2018 or 2019.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Villemure.
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[English]

Mr. Green, you have two minutes and thirty seconds—maybe a
couple of seconds extra after that intervention by Mr. Villemure.

Go ahead, Mr. Green.
Mr. Matthew Green: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Rosenberg, you've now undergone almost two hours of what
feels like cross-examination. I want to give you the benefit here.
Allegations have been made. There are some direct comments on
your character in terms of whether you're believable or not. There
was the testimony from Madam Fournier, who raised some signifi‐
cant issues. To the benefit of your reputation and your standing, I
want to provide you with the opportunity to say anything in re‐
sponse to any outstanding issues that you would like to have on the
record.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: The one I want to go back to is CSIS
uncovering a Chinese plan to donate to the Trudeau Foundation.
This appeared in the Globe on February 28 of this year. It was
based on an anonymous source, apparently not based on a docu‐
ment. This is intelligence.

Intelligence is different from evidence, and I'm going to tell you
something some of you may have heard from David Morrison.
When he appeared at the other committee, at the House committee,
he said, “intelligence rarely paints a full, concrete or actionable pic‐
ture”. It's not truth; it's often inaccurate or partial or incomplete. In
fact, we don't know what happened to that intelligence. We don't
know where it went. We don't know who was briefed on it. We
don't know if anybody was briefed on it. We don't know if it was
taken seriously or not. I wasn't briefed on it.

There is a question, and it's a policy question as to how far CSIS
should go outside the government when they become aware of
something that might affect another non-government Canadian or‐
ganization. I understand that there are limits on them with respect
to revealing sources or methods, but maybe they need to be a bit
more proactive in speaking and letting people know—and this is
not just CSIS but the whole security community. What is the public
interaction and the transparency of the Canadian security communi‐
ty?

I didn't know about this. I don't think anybody knew about this
until February 28, and to say that nobody believes me, frankly, I'm
insulted by that.
● (1745)

Mr. Matthew Green: I appreciate that.

With my remaining 15 seconds, I would ask, to give you one
more opportunity, the following: Would you not agree that an inde‐
pendent public inquiry into the matter might help clear the air?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I think an independent public inquiry is
a reasonable option. There are other reasonable options as well. I
would hope that, if there is an independent public inquiry, it finds a
way of making sure that not everything is happening in secret. Be‐
cause there's an awful lot of security information that will never get
into the public, the public part of the inquiry might be very much in
question.

Mr. Matthew Green: That's fair enough. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Green.

Mr. Barrett, you have two and a half minutes, sir. Go ahead.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Sir, you said that intelligence is different
from evidence. Of course it is.

Did you meet with PRC diplomats to arrange this donation?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: No.

Mr. Michael Barrett: We have an ATIP—an access to informa‐
tion record—that says that, in Montreal on the September 24, 2014,
you attended a meeting with a consular official from the PRC. Does
that jog your memory?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: Yes, so that.... Yes, I just got a look at
that. I'm sorry about that.

Mr. Michael Barrett: At the end of that same document I'm ref‐
erencing, which you've acknowledged now, it says that, once the
proposal is ready, the foundation will involve Alexandre Trudeau.
We talked about evidence, so we have evidence that the president
of the foundation met with consular officials from a foreign govern‐
ment to arrange a donation, where they have the brother of....

You're shaking your head, sir, but I'm reading to you from the
document. You first said that you didn't meet with them, but now
you acknowledge that you did because I brought receipts. We have
the receipts. You said it was extraordinary, and you couldn't recall
another time Alexandre Trudeau would sign a donation agreement.
He did it in this case. The foundation met with a foreign govern‐
ment, arranged this donation, ensured.... It's minuted that it was a
requirement to have Mr. Trudeau personally involved.

At the time, even without the benefit of hindsight, could you not
see that this was a foreign influence operation? This is not based on
intelligence. This is based on evidence. You differentiated them be‐
fore in your response to another colleague.

I'm seeing here that you attended the meeting, that consular offi‐
cials from the PRC—the communist dictatorship in Beijing—were
at the meeting, that the direction was to have Mr. Trudeau involved
and that's what they got. They asked for it. The PRC asked for it,
and the PRC got it. The Trudeau Foundation got the $140,000, and
the individuals who were cut-outs acting on behalf of the dictator‐
ship both got access directly to the Prime Minister within five
months of this two-year process. Within five months, they both had
access directly to the Prime Minister.

The Chair: Mr. Barrett, that's your time.

I'm going to give you time for a quick response.

Go ahead.

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: First of all, I apologize. I didn't look at
the whole list of attendees. I didn't mean to mislead anybody on
that.
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Second, this was an initiating meeting. This was not about the
donation. At this point, they were talking about a donation to the
Université de Montréal and to other universities in Canada. Then
there was a committee set up with three people—Mr. Zhang,
Madam Comtois and Benoît Moore from the Université de Mon‐
tréal—and the evolution of this happened as a result of that. It
didn't come out of this meeting.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Rosenberg.

Thank you, Mr. Barrett.

Mr. Bains, you have the final intervention for two and a half min‐
utes. Go ahead.

Mr. Parm Bains: Thank you.

You talked a little bit about intelligence versus evidence, and we
previously heard from a witness.... A former executive at CSIS also
stated that documents that are now reported as reports in certain
media aren't actually coming from CSIS and that they think they're
from somebody else, somebody with an agenda. Where could this
be coming from? Ultimately, with respect to how it's being report‐
ed—which you've just mentioned—can you expand a little bit on
that?
● (1750)

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: We don't know where it's coming from
because my understanding is that....

It's interesting. The discussion in the U.S. after that young gamer
leaked all that information was that there are thousands, if not
more, of top secret clearances in the United States. I don't know
how many top secret clearances there are in Canada, but they're not
just in CSIS. They are in the Privy Council Office. They are in the
Department of Foreign Affairs. They are in the Department of Jus‐
tice. They are in the Department of Finance. They're in the minis‐
ters' offices. They're everywhere. Who knows where it came from?
I would say—knowing a little bit about CSIS—that they didn't
come from CSIS. That's what I would surmise; I don't know for
sure. They came from somewhere.

Then the question is this: What is the the value of them? This is
what we don't know. We don't know if this is a draft that somebody
had, if this is a conversation that somebody had, if it was dismissed.
In other words, the veracity and the weight of the intelligence,
when it comes out through an anonymous source, are really hard to
gauge, yet it's being taken as the gospel truth.

Mr. Parm Bains: Now I just want to switch a little bit. You also
talked about our security establishment engaging with diaspora
communities. How can they do that better?

Mr. Morris Rosenberg: After 9/11, I was at the Department of
Justice when we did the anti-terrorism legislation. I know that there
was a concern that there would be—and there was, in fact—a back‐
lash against people of Middle Eastern origin and other minority

groups, just as I think there's been a backlash against people of
Asian origin, starting with the pandemic because of the suspected
origins of it. At that time, the government put together a diversity
round table to meet with representatives of these communities to at
least talk about what the problems were and to find ways to try to
mitigate the harm.

Let me be clear. The fact that some communities may suffer a de‐
gree of harm is not a reason to avoid investigating legitimate claims
of interference, but we need to be aware of that harm and try to
work to mitigate it.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Bains.

That concludes the session for today.

Mr. Rosenberg, before you leave.... You were here when we had
Mr. Fergus move the amendment on providing the documents.

Is it reasonable—and I'm asking the committee this—to expect
that Mr. Rosenberg do this by, let's say, five o'clock on Friday after‐
noon, May 5? Is that reasonable, committee members?

Ms. Iqra Khalid: Mr. Chair, that's three days from now. Today
is Tuesday.

The Chair: I'm asking Mr. Rosenberg as well.

Is that a reasonable request?
Mr. Morris Rosenberg: I assume that I can provide these elec‐

tronically.
The Chair: Yes, you can provide them to the clerk.

I would ask that all documents that you are to provide and under‐
take to the committee be submitted before Friday at five o'clock.

The other thing that I do need clarification on from the commit‐
tee—we didn't do this on Friday—is that Madam Fournier has been
providing documents, so I would like to accord her the same oppor‐
tunity, by Friday at five o'clock, as we just did with Mr. Rosenberg,
to provide us with all of the documents that she said she would pro‐
vide. She's provided some at this point, but there may be more.

For both Mr. Rosenberg and Madam Fournier, do I have commit‐
tee consensus—the clerk can advise Madam Fournier—to have
their documents here by five o'clock on Friday?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: Mr. Rosenberg, on behalf of the committee and on
behalf of Canadians, I'd like to thank you for appearing before our
committee today.

To our clerk, our analysts and our technicians, thank you for your
assistance today.

This meeting is adjourned.
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